THESIS PROTOCOL: CAREGIVING BURDEN IN MINORITY ETHNIC FAMILY CAREGIVERS OF DEMENTIA.

Aleena Yasin

Doctorate in Clinical Psychology Programme University of Exeter



Table of Contents

Introduction		
Research Aim and Question	6	
Method	7	
Design	7	
Participants	8	
Method of Data Collection	10	
Procedure	19	
Data Analysis	10	
User Consultation	11	
Ethical Considerations	12	
Informed Consent	13	
Debrief	13	
Data Protection and Confidentiality	13	
Significance	15	
Dissemination Statement	16	
References	17	
Appendices	23	
Appendix A: Interview Schedule	23	
Appendix B: Information Sheet	26	
Appendix C: Consent Form	29	
Appendix D: Debrief Form	31	

Introduction

The estimated number of people living with dementia (PwD) in the United Kingdom is 885,000, with approximately 225,000 from minority ethnic (ME) populations (Alzheimer's Society, 2014). This is projected to increase to 172,000 by 2051, an estimated seven-fold increase compared to the two-fold increase in the White British population (Wohland et al, 2011). Higher rates are associated with increased dementia risk factors in South Asian and Black Caribbean populations, for example, Type II diabetes, hypertension, cardiovascular disease, and low socioeconomic status (Adelman et al, 2009). First generation migrants who settled in the UK between the 1950's – 1970's are now at an age where there is an elevated risk of developing dementia (Cheston & Bradbury 2016). The term 'ethnic minority' is used to refer to a group of individuals who share cultural traditions, religion, linguistic traits or other qualities which differ to those of the majority population (Ramaga, 1992). In the present study, the term ethnic minority will refer to people from non-white origins living in the UK.

Dementia is a chronic neurological condition, associated with a progressive decline in cognitive abilities, including communication, executive functioning, memory, processing speed, visuospatial abilities and activities of daily living (Yuill & Hollis, 2011).

Despite governmental emphasis on meeting the needs of PwD and their families, through the publication of the Prime Ministers Challenge on Dementia Care (Department of Health, 2012) and the National Dementia Strategy (Department of Health, 2009), experiences of dementia in ME communities remains misunderstood (Botsford et al, 2011). They continue to remain underrepresented in dementia services, underequipped to meet their needs (Mukadam et al, 2011) and instead, care is predominantly provided by an informal family caregiver. Approximately 10% of family caregivers are from ME communities, with South Asian being the largest group, followed by Black Caribbean (Carers UK, 2011). Family caregivers are defined as individuals who voluntarily support a relative with cognitive, physical or emotional difficulties, usually over a long period of time without financial recompense (Bridges, 1995).

Caring for PwD is associated with elevated levels of caregiver burden, which is defined as challenges felt by carers in relation to physical and emotional health, familial relations, employment and finances (Pearlin et al, 1990). Pearlin and colleagues' (1990) model of caregiver stress outlines four key components that exacerbate burden of care. These include 1) the background context (e.g., level of support and impact of other life events); 2) primary stressors (e.g., psychological and behavioural difficulties in dementia); 3) secondary role strain (e.g., family conflict and impact on social life; 4) intrapsychic strains (e.g., personality and role captivity of caregiver).

Literature suggests that ME caregivers are at an increased risk of burden, anxiety and depression compared to White British caregivers (Parveen et al, 2013). The multiple jeopardy hypothesis stipulates that ME caregivers are more likely to experience poorer outcomes due to the extra challenges they face. This includes stigma associated with dementia in their communities, stigma of belonging to an ME community and negative stereotypes associated with being a migrant and belonging to a lower socioeconomic status (Bamford et al, 2014). Increased caregiver burden in ME communities can also be explained by the Stress and Coping Models where elevated levels of caregiver burden are thought to result from elevated levels of stressors and low levels of resources as well as poor coping processes (e.g., Pearlin et al, 1990). Elevated levels of caregiving stressors (e.g., poverty) and limited access to formal support (e.g., dementia carer support groups) might result in increased levels of burden in ME caregivers compared to White British caregivers.

There are a number of reasons why people from ME populations are more likely to care for family members with dementia, these include: language and cultural barriers (Jolley et al, 2009); differences in health beliefs; fear of discriminatory health care practices and mistrust of services (Mukadam et al, 2011); high familism values, defined as having strong attachment and identification to the family, with strong feelings of reciprocity and loyalty (Losada et al, 2010); cultural and religious norms around caring for elders (Jutlla, 2015).

Traditional family-orientated models of care provision are typically adopted in ME communities, where family caregivers live with the PwD and provide care in their home (Ahmad et al,

2020; Herat- Gunaratne et al, 2020; Hossain, 2021; van Wezel et al, 2016), in some cases, extended family members live together and share caring responsibilities (Sagbaken et al, 2018). In other cases, a 'rotational 24-hour care model' is adopted, where PwD is moved between relatives' homes (Nielsen et al, 2021). It is also common for individuals to enter 'care marriages' (Berdai Chaouni et al, 2020), where wives are expected to move in with their husband's family and provide care for parents-in-laws (Arora et al, 2018).

Engaging in traditional models of family caregiving enables adult children to reciprocate parental care received as children (Ahmad et al, 2020; Nielsen et al, 2021). Studies in Norway (Næss & Moen 2015; Sagbakken et al, 2018), reported that ME caregivers described caring for parents as morally upright and as a means of reciprocating kindness received in childhood. Similarly, studies in the Netherlands revealed guilt, shame (Sagbakken et al, 2018) and anxieties around not being 'good children' if they did not care for parents (Nielsen et al, 2021). Therefore, seeking support could be interpreted as failure (Ahmad et al, 2020).

Using 'familism', as a basis for their research Losada et al, (2010), found that traditional beliefs regarding family obligations in Asian and Latino/Hispanic communities resulted in dysfunctional thoughts, rooted in the need to completely dedicate themselves to caring responsibilities irrespective of their own needs and emotions. In a similar study Stebbins and Pakenham (2001) explored the association between dysfunctional thoughts and emotional distress in carers of people with cognitive difficulties. They concluded that dysfunctional thoughts and higher level of adherence to these thoughts were associated with elevated levels of emotional distress. According to the cognitive model of caregiver distress (Losada et al, 2006) a carer's beliefs and thoughts (i.e., dysfunctional thoughts), manifest as a result of socio-cultural influences, family histories and personal experiences. These thoughts can then serve as barriers when attempting to cope adaptatively with caregiving responsibilities, increasingly the possibility of poor psychological outcomes.

Alongside the belief that caring is a 'natural obligation' (Botsford et al, 2011), ME communities are more likely to believe that relatives will not be appropriately cared for, might be abused, and will

not be understood by health care professionals (Sagbakken et al, 2018). A recent systematic review (Johl et al, 2016) reported that ME family caregivers do not perceive health and social care services as culturally competent and able to meet their needs, this coupled with experiences of discrimination and language barriers results in reluctancy to seek support and a greater sense of responsibility to care for family members.

However, some research suggests assuming that ME communities prefer to 'look after their own' and that they can do so due to support from wider family systems might not be true (Parveen et al, 2017). For example, extended families are no longer the norm in British South Asian families, due to economic changes resulting in working aged adults moving away from family for employment and taking on the more dominant UK culture around family systems (Katbamna et al, 2004; Parveen et al, 2017). Research also suggests that carers from South Asian communities may sever ties with family and friends and choose to 'hide' PwD to avoid stigmatisation (Baghirathan et al, 2020; Berdai Chaouni & De Donder, 2019), particularly in communities where dementia is framed within the context of 'madness' or 'craziness' (Botsford et al, 2012) and superstition (Baghirathan et al, 2020).

There is considerable research suggesting that ME family caregivers are more likely to experience higher levels of caregiver burden compared to White British caregivers (Carers UK, 2011; Wittenberg et al, 2018), however, there is limited research considering the specific factors associated with this increased burden. This proposed study seeks to add to the current literature by exploring factors associated with increased caregiver burden in ME family caregivers of dementia. This will facilitate the delivery of care practices that reduce caregiver burden which will serve to improve their wellbeing and the people they care for. This is paramount given the increasing recognition that family caregivers need to be better supported (La Fontaine et al, 2016).

Research Aims and Question

The projected increase in dementia amongst people from ME communities, will inevitably result in an increase in the number of family caregivers from ME communities, a figure that currently sits at 540, 000 (Wittenberg et al, 2018). Literature repeatedly highlights the significant pressure that

CAREGIVERS OF DEMENTIA.

family systems in ME communities face to provide care. Expectations that stem from cultural norms within the communities, prior negative experiences of services and often unvoiced pressure from health and social care services themselves (Osman & Carare, 2015).

The current cost of dementia care within the UK is £34.7 billion, a number projected to increase to £94.1 billion by 2040. Given the current unprecedent financial constraints faced by health and social care services, unpaid family caregivers act as a huge resource. It is estimated that family caregivers provide care worth £13.9 billion a year. It is therefore paramount that their experiences of caregiving continue to be a research priority (Wittenberg et al, 2018).

Approximately 60,120 ME caregivers in England experience poor health and are more likely to experience moderate to high levels of burden than their White British counterparts (Carers UK, 2011; Wittenberg et al, 2018). Despite this consistent evidence, there continues to remain limited research exploring predictors of caregiver burden in ME family carers of dementia within the UK. Therefore, this research is guided by the following question: What factors are associated with increased burden in minority ethnic family caregivers of dementia?

Findings will help policy makers and commissioners deliver services that are inclusive, non-discriminatory, and sensitive to the diverse needs of ME communities. It is hoped that this will encourage ME caregivers to access services to reduce their burden, improve their wellbeing and those that they provide care for. This is particularly important given the number of national policies (e.g., Department of Health, 2009; Department of Health, 2012) outlining the importance of reducing health inequalities experienced by PwD and their families from ME communities.

Method

Design

There is limited research exploring the specific factors associated with caregiver burden in ME family caregivers of dementia in the UK, therefore a qualitative approach will be an appropriate means of developing meaning and understanding (Creswell & Creswell, 2017) and exploring likely complex caregiving experiences (Barker et al, 2015).

Participants

Inclusion criteria:

- Minority ethnic family carers for people with dementia. The term minority ethnic family carer
 will refer to people from all non-white origins living and caring for a family member with
 dementia in the UK.
- Minimum age of 18 years old, there will not be an upper age limit. Carers under 18 years old will be excluded from the study.
- Must have been caring for a family member with dementia for a minimum of six months.
- Minority ethnic family caregiver who previously cared for a person with dementia, not longer than two years ago.
- Ability to take part in a semi-structured interview in English.
- Ability to provide written informed consent.
- Living in the UK, there will be no restriction on geographical location within the UK.
- Must have access to the internet to access the interview via Microsoft Teams.

Exclusion criteria:

- Non-family caregivers.
- Caregivers from White British backgrounds.
- Caregivers of non-dementia related health conditions.
- Caregivers under 18 years of age.
- Caring for a family member living with dementia for less than six months.
- Inability to speak and understand English.
- Does not have access to the internet or Microsoft Teams.

Prospective participants will be sampled from the following sources: Alzheimer's Society, a charity for PwD and their family caregivers; "community leaders" (prominent members of ME communities such as Imams and Granthi's); memory clinics and older adult community mental health teams within NHS Trusts across England.

A poster outlining the nature of the study along with the information sheet will be emailed to NHS Trusts and non-NHS organisations. Clinicians will be asked to put the recruitment poster and information sheets in waiting rooms. Clinicians will also be asked to share the recruitment poster and information sheet with caregivers when they access their services or attend an appointment with their family member with dementia. Before sharing the information sheet and poster with potential participants, clinicians will be asked to complete a brief screening form with caregivers to ensure that they meet the inclusion and exclusion criteria. The poster and information sheet will detail an email address that potential participants can contact if they are interested in participating or would like to know more about the study. Potential participants who express an interest in the study will be asked to sign and return a consent form. Participants will be asked to return the signed consent form within two weeks.

Snowballing and inward purposive sampling will be used to collect data, this method is beneficial when working with hard to reach, underprivileged and geographically isolated ME caregivers in the UK (Hossain, 2021). Volunteer sampling will also be used, with potential participants also recruited through social media where the study poster will be shared. Sampling issues are a well-known challenge in research with ME communities, sample sizes are often limited by relatively low response rates, reasons for this include closed communities (Wilkinson et al, 2003); mistrust of researchers; fearing harm; time and resource constraints (Thakur et al, 2021). Time and resources constraints will be addressed through financial compensation and flexible interview times; mistrust and closed communities will be addressed through engagement with community leaders. It is hoped that the chief investigator's own ME status will also facilitate increased trust. To account for limited diversity within the Southwest of England, there will be no restriction on geographical location within the UK.

Thematic analysis guidelines recommend 6-10 participants for small scale research projects (Clarke & Braun, 2021). With some research suggesting that theoretical saturation occurs after 10 interviews, with few new themes being identified with additional interviewees (Fugard & Potts, 2015). Therefore, 10 participants will be sought, this is also in line with the University of Exeter's Doctoral Programme's recommendations.

Method of Data Collection

Ten sixty-minute semi structured interviews will be used to collect data over the video conferencing platform, Microsoft Teams. All interviews will be audio recorded using the record feature on Microsoft Teams. This will save participants time and money associated with travelling and allow for greater flexibility when arranging interview times (Muir et al, 2020), this will overcome time and resource factors associated with decreased likelihood of research participation in ME communities.

The interview schedule will gain insight into factors associated with increased caregiver burden in ME family caregivers of PwD. A user consultation group will be utilised to develop the content and format of the interview schedule. Open ended questions will be used to provide a flexible frame of reference for further exploration (see appendix A). Once participants have completed the interview, a debrief will be provided and they will have the opportunity to reflect on their interview experience. Participants will be informed that they can access findings from the study upon its completion via email.

Procedure

Ethical approval will be obtained from NHS Research Health Authority and the University of Exeter School of Psychology Ethics Committee, prior to participant recruitment. Information sheets will be given to potential participants and informed consent will be obtained. Participants will be invited to an online interview on Microsoft Teams, which will be encrypted. Participants will be advised around appropriate technology including a stable internet connection (Seitz, 2016). They will be encouraged to use a quiet and private space to talk, to facilitate a safe and open space for potentially sensitive discussions.

Data Analysis

The chief investigator will transcribe forty percent of the data, the rest of the data will be transcribed using Devon transcription service, a service that has been approved by the University of Exeter A confidentiality agreement between the sponsor and external professional transcription service will be in place.

Interview transcripts will be entered into the NVivo data management programme. Following this thematic analysis will be used, comprising six stages outlined by Clarke and Braun (2021) becoming familiar with data; 2) generating initial codes; 3) searching for themes; 4) reviewing themes; 5) defining themes; 6) writing up findings. Thematic analysis has been selected as this is an efficient data analysis process, allowing for a thorough investigation of the phenomenon of interest through interpretation of data obtained from interviews (Alhojailan, 2012). Whilst interpretative phenomenological analysis, is an effective way of understanding how individuals make sense of their experiences (Smith, 2015), thematic analysis was chosen as the preferred data analysis method as it allows for the identification of common themes that arise from the experiences of different caregivers. Caregiving is complex, and thematic analysis will encapsulate this complexity by identifying and exploring several themes and subthemes that might emerge from their experiences.

Research supervisor Dr Taline Artinian will provide expertise and supervision when carrying out thematic analysis of study results. Dr Taline Artinian is a lecturer and research tutor on the Doctorate in Clinical Psychology programme at the University of Exeter, with extensive experience carrying out qualitative research and supervising qualitative research at doctorate level.

A social constructionist framework, which focuses on how meanings and experiences are produced through social contexts and subjective interactions with the world will be used to undertake thematic analysis (Doan, 1997). In terms of minority ethnic caregivers of dementia, they carry out their caregiving role and experience it by generating a meaning for it, which is both culturally and socially bound through place and time. This framework contrasts with the constructivism approach, which suggests that meaning is an individual and internalised process generated from a set of cognitive processes (Raskin, 2008).

A service user consultation group will be consulted on the data analysis processes, this will ensure quality and an approach based on ethical considerations (Smythe & Murray, 2000). They will also be asked to provide their own personal interpretations of anonymised transcripts. It is hoped that this will identify additional themes, challenge the researchers' assumptions, and improve the reporting of living with dementia (Barber et al, 2011). Supervision will be used to reach an agreement on the data analysis.

CAREGIVERS OF DEMENTIA.

The chief investigator will reflect on their own position through research supervision, thematic analysis group supervision and logging a reflective diary.

User Consultation

User consultation is recognised as best practice and of significant value to research (Morrow et al, 2010). It offers a range of benefits, including increased credibility and relevance of research to clinical practice and service users (Lindenmeyer et al, 2007; Thompson et al, 2009). All discussions with the service user consultation group will be documented by the researcher on Microsoft word and discussed with the research supervisors for consideration.

The 'Doctorate in Clinical Psychology and Post Graduate Research Lived Experience Group' at the University of Exeter will be consulted at various stages of the research project, including recruitment, designing interview questions and data analysis.

Service user involvement in recruitment will improve recruitment rates, and retention (Domecq et al, 2014), if the initial recruitment strategy does not produce enough participants, they will help identify alternative approaches. They will also be consulted on posters used to advertise the project, to provide insights into the cultural appropriateness, clarity, and readability to ensure that its effectively communicates the purpose of the study. Consultation will also be sought on the most effective way to engage minority ethnic caregivers and build trust.

Service users will be involved in designing interview questions, feedback will be sought on appropriateness of language used and clarity of questions. They will also be consulted for their views on interview method, including interview length and techniques for ensuing interviewee comfort and engagement. The service user group will be consulted on the data analysis processes, this will ensure quality, and an approach based on ethical considerations (Smythe & Murray, 2000). They will also be asked to provide their own personal interpretations of data, this will identify additional themes, challenge the researchers' assumptions and improve the reporting of findings, ensuring that they are relevant to ME family caregivers of PwD (Barber et al, 2011).

Ethical Considerations

Ethical approval will be sought from the NHS Health Research Authority and the University of Exeter's Ethics Committee, prior to participant recruitment.

Informed consent

An information sheet (see appendix B) outlining the purpose of the study will be given to all potential participants. They will be provided with an opportunity to discuss the research process and any questions they have with the researcher. Written consent (see appendix C) will be sought from participants who agree to participate in the study and obtained through an electronic signature, and they will be informed of their right to withdraw their consent at any time during the interviews. Following completion of the interviews, participants will be informed that they have 30 days to withdraw their data should they wish to. This will allow the researcher sufficient time to recruit additional participants if required, without impacting the restricted project timeline. Participants who withdraw will have all their data deleted from the study.

Debrief

The study will not involve deception, participants will be informed of the study's rational prior to participation. Once they have completed the study, participants will be given a debrief form (see appendix d) containing the chief investigator and research supervisors contact details. If participants believe that support is required in relation to sensitive topics raised, their immediate support needs will be identified and they will be signposted to appropriate services, for example, Alzheimer's society.

Data Protection and Participant Confidentiality

All data collected from participants will be stored securely and confidentially. Data collected from participants will include consent forms, audio recordings of the interview and anonymised transcripts of interviews. All data will be immediately stored onto a password protected laptop and on the University of Exeter's SharePoint, in a protected folder that is only accessible to the chief investigator and research supervisors. Screening forms completed by participating organisations will remain at the participating site and will not be shared with the sponsor.

Data will be pseudo-anonymised during the study. All participants will be allocated a unique identification number, and their data will be labelled with their unique number instead of their name. A

spreadsheet which links participants' unique ID number, and their name will be kept separate from their study data. This will be stored on a password- protected University of Exeter secure SharePoint which is only accessible by the research team.

All interviews will be audio recorded and transcribed verbatim. All personally identifiable information will be removed during transcription (e.g., names), anonymising the data. Once an interview has been recorded it will be immediately uploaded on to the University of Exeter's SharePoint, in a protected folder that is only accessible to the chief investigator and research supervisors. The recordings will then be immediately deleted from Microsoft Teams. All audio recordings will be deleted 12 months after the interview, this time frame takes into consideration the length of time it will take to transcribe and analyse data whilst completing the doctorate in clinical psychology programme. This time frame also coincides with when the chief investigator will have submitted the research to University of Exeter's doctorate in clinical psychology programme and completion of programme studies.

The chief investigator will carry out the interview in an isolated room in their place of residence, where there will be no unauthorised persons able to watch or listen to the interview. This will ensure the privacy and confidentiality of participants.

Identifiable data will not be shared outside of the research team, and the data custodian will be the research supervisor, Dr Katrina Chesterman.

Participants' contact details (i.e. email address) and consent forms will be stored separately from their interview data and contact details will be destroyed securely once participants have been emailed a voucher thanking them for participating in the study. At the end of the interview, participants will be given the option of receiving the results of the study via email once they become available. If they agree to this, they will be made aware that this will involve the research team retaining their preferred contact details until the results have been disseminated. They will also be informed that, as per the study period, their contact details will be kept securely and will only be accessible to the research team. Personal contact details will be deleted after findings have been shared with participants. It is expected that this will be 12 months following the completion of the interview. Consent forms will be retained for three years in accordance with the length of time study data (i.e. transcripts) will be retained.

With participants' consent, anonymised transcriptions will be archived in the University of Exeter's Research Data Archive and a data access statement will be made available in the publication of the study. For any participants who do not consent to their transcripts being archived for the purpose of data access, their data will not be included, and the remaining archived data will clearly state that the full dataset was not archived for this reason. Archived data will be retained for 3 years, in accordance with the University of Exeter's Research Data Policy.

Significance

As previously outlined, the number of PwD from ME communities in the UK and subsequently the number of family caregivers from ME communities is expected to rise substantially (Wittenberg et al, 2018). Dementia places a significant demand on family caregivers, including increased supervision of PwD due to neuropsychiatric changes; managing cognitive, behavioural and mood disturbances; loss of functional abilities; adapting to changes in relationship dynamics (Racine et al, 2022).

Family caregivers of dementia are frequently referred to as the "invisible second patients" (Brodaty & Donkin, 2022), due to the significant psychological, physical, social and financial implications caring responsibilities can have on their lives (Bökberg et al, 2017; Chaves Pedreira et al., 2018; Hermanns & Mastel-Smith, 2012; Hokanson et al., 2018). The detrimental effects on psychological wellbeing are consistently reported in the literature (Campbell et al, 2008; Cooper at al, 2006; Gaugler et al, 2008) and are higher in dementia caregivers compared to other caregivers, differences which are even greater when compared to non-caregivers (Pinquart & Sörensen, 2003). It is widely acknowledged that family carers are often more emotionally affected by the illness compared to the patient. Caregivers also report a higher level of physical health difficulties and a higher risk of mortality (Brodaty & Hadzi-Pavlovic, 1990) compared to non-caregivers (Cherry et al., 2017). Financially, they incur losses through reduces earnings, reduced employment and hidden unpaid costs associated with caregiving. They often lack social support, contact and experience social isolation through reduced time with friends and sacrificing hobbies (Brodaty & Donkin, 2022)

National guidelines and policies, including the National Dementia Strategy for England (2009), The White Paper, *Healthy lives, healthy people* (2010) and the All Party Parliamentary Group on Dementia (2013) acknowledge the need for greater attention to be paid to the experiences of PwD and their carers from ME communities, to reduce the health inequalities they experience across health and social care and ensure that services are appropriate and high quality. The importance of this is illustrated in literature reporting that PwD and their carers from ME populations often complain of a lack of choice (Kenning et al, 2017) and believe that support and services available do not consider their cultural, religious or linguistic needs (Bhattacharyya & Benbow 2013).

Therefore, exploring factors associated with caregiver burden in ME communities will help policy makers and commissioners adopt appropriate models of care to support ME caregivers, deliver care interventions that are sensitive to the cultural needs of these communities, adopt non-discriminatory and inclusive health policies and increase service uptake. It is hoped that this will reduce caregiver burden and improve their wellbeing as well as the people they care for. With the growing number of people living with dementia, and the impact of caregiving, it is increasingly recognised at national and international levels, that family members need to be better supported in their roles as caregivers (La Fontaine et al, 2016).

Dissemination Statement

It is hoped that the final report and publication will be submitted to a relevant dementia journals (e.g., *Dementia Journal*). The publication of the study will acknowledge that the study was conducted as part of the Doctorate in Clinical Psychology, which was funded by the University of Exeter. All participants who take part in the study will be asked if they would like to receive the publication of the study, when it becomes available. Those participants who express a desire to see the publication will be sent a copy via email.

References

- Adelman, S., Blanchard, M., & Livingston, G. (2009). A systematic review of the prevalence and covariates of dementia or relative cognitive impairment in the older African-Caribbean population in Britain. *International journal of geriatric psychiatry*, 24(7), 657–665. https://doi.org/10.1002/gps.2186
- Ahmad, M., van den Broeke, J., Saharso, S., & Tonkens, E. (2020). Persons With a Migration

 Background Caring for a Family Member With Dementia: Challenges to Shared Care. *The Gerontologist*, 60(2), 340–349. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnz161
- Alhojailan, M. I., & Ibrahim, M. (2012). Thematic analysis: A critical review of its process and evaluation. *West east journal of social sciences*, *1*(1), 39-47.
- Alzheimer's Society (2014) Dementia UK 2nd Edition. London: Alzheimer's Society. Accessed January 2023 available online at: https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/dementiauk.
- Arora, S., Bergland, A., Straiton, M., Rechel, B., & Debesay, J. (2018). Older migrants' access to healthcare: a thematic synthesis. *International Journal of Migration, Health and Social Care*, 14(4), 425-438. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJMHSC-05-2018-0032
- Baghirathan, S., Cheston, R., Hui, R., Chacon, A., Shears, P., & Currie, K. (2020). A grounded theory analysis of the experiences of carers for people living with dementia from three BAME communities: Balancing the need for support against fears of being diminished. *Dementia* (London, England), 19(5), 1672–1691. https://doi.org/10.1177/1471301218804714
- Bamford, S., Holley-Moore, G., & Watson, J. (2014). New perspectives and approaches to understanding dementia and stigma. London: ILC-UK.

- Barber, R., Beresford, P., Boote, J., Cooper, C., & Faulkner, A. (2011). Evaluating the impact of service user involvement on research: a prospective case study. *International journal of consumer studies*, 35(6), 609-615. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1470-6431.2011.01017.x
- Berdai Chaouni, S., & De Donder, L. (2019). Invisible realities: Caring for older Moroccan migrants with dementia in Belgium. *Dementia (London, England)*, 18(7-8), 3113–3129. https://doi.org/10.1177/1471301218768923
- Berdai Chaouni, S., Smetcoren, A. S., & De Donder, L. (2020). Caring for migrant older Moroccans with dementia in Belgium as a complex and dynamic transnational network of informal and professional care: A qualitative study. *International journal of nursing studies*, *101*, 103413. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2019.103413
- Botsford, J., Clarke, C. L., & Gibb, C. E. (2011). Research and dementia, caring and ethnicity: A review of the literature. *Journal of Research in Nursing*, 16(5), 437-449.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/17449871114145
- Botsford, J., Clarke, C. L., & Gibb, C. E. (2012). Dementia and relationships: experiences of partners in minority ethnic communities. *Journal of advanced nursing*, 68(10), 2207–2217. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.2011.05905.x
- Bridges, B. J. (1995). Therapeutic caregiving: a practical guide for caregivers of persons with Alzheimer's and other dementia causing diseases. Washington, DC: BJB.
- Carers, U.K., (2011). Half a million voices: improving support for BAME carers. London: Carers UK.
- Cheston R & Bradbury N (2016). Evidence briefing. Dementia, accessibility and minority groups.

 British Psychological Society.
- Clarke, V., & Braun, V. (2021). Thematic analysis: a practical guide. *Thematic Analysis*, 1-100.London:SAGE

- Department of Health. (2009). *Living well with dementia–a national dementia strategy*. London: Department of Health.
- Department of Health. (2012). *The Prime Minister's Challenge on Dementia*. London: Department of Health.
- Doan, R. E. (1997). Narrative therapy, postmodernism, social constructionism, and constructivism:

 Discussion and distinctions. *Transactional Analysis Journal*, 27(2), 128-133.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/036215379702700208
- Faulkner, A. (2011). Participation and service user involvement. *Qualitative research methods in mental health and psychotherapy: A guide for students and practitioners*, 39-54.
- Fugard, A. J., & Potts, H. W. (2015). Supporting thinking on sample sizes for thematic analyses: a quantitative tool. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 18(6), 669-684.
- Herat-Gunaratne, R., Cooper, C., Mukadam, N., Rapaport, P., Leverton, M., Higgs, P., Samus, Q., & Burton, A. (2020). "In the Bengali Vocabulary, There Is No Such Word as Care Home": Caring Experiences of UK Bangladeshi and Indian Family Carers of People Living With Dementia at Home. *The Gerontologist*, 60(2), 331–339. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnz120
- Hossain, M. Z. (2021). The costs of caregiving: Exploring the perceived burden of dementia among Bangladeshi caregivers in Britain. *The American Journal of Family Therapy*, 49(1), 91-108. https://doi.org/10.1080/01926187.2020.1777911
- Johl, N., Patterson, T., & Pearson, L. (2016). What do we know about the attitudes, experiences and needs of Black and minority ethnic carers of people with dementia in the United Kingdom? A systematic review of empirical research findings. *Dementia (London, England)*, 15(4), 721– 742. https://doi.org/10.1177/1471301214534424

- Jolley, D., Moreland, N., Read, K., Kaur, H., Jutlla, K., & Clark, M. (2009). The 'Twice a Child'projects: learning about dementia and related disorders within the black and minority ethnic population of an English city and improving relevant services. *Ethnicity and Inequalities in Health and Social Care*, 2(4), 4-9.
 https://doi.org/10.1108/17570980200900024
- Jutlla, K. (2015). The impact of migration experiences and migration identities on the experiences of services and caring for a family member with dementia for Sikhs living in Wolverhampton, UK. *Ageing & Society*, 35(5), 1032-1054. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0144686X14000658
- Katbamna, S., Ahmad, W., Bhakta, P., Baker, R., & Parker, G. (2004). Do they look after their own?

 Informal support for South Asian carers. *Health & social care in the community*, 12(5), 398–406. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2524.2004.00509.x
- La Fontaine, J., Jutlla, K., Read, K., Brooker, D., & Evans, S. (2016). The experiences, needs and outcomes for carers of people with dementia. *Literature review. Worcester: Association for Dementia Studies. University of Worcester*.
- Losada, A., Robinson Shurgot, G., Knight, B. G., Márquez, M., Montorio, I., Izal, M., & Ruiz, M. A. (2006). Cross-cultural study comparing the association of familism with burden and depressive symptoms in two samples of Hispanic dementia caregivers. *Aging & mental health*, *10*(1), 69–76. https://doi.org/10.1080/13607860500307647
- Losada, A., Marquez-Gonzalez, M., Knight, B. G., Yanguas, J., Sayegh, P., & Romero-Moreno, R. (2010). Psychosocial factors and caregivers' distress: effects of familism and dysfunctional thoughts. *Aging & mental health*, *14*(2), 193–202. https://doi.org/10.1080/13607860903167838

- Muir, S. D., de Boer, K., Thomas, N., Seabrook, E., Nedeljkovic, M., & Meyer, D. (2020). Videoconferencing Psychotherapy in the Public Sector: Synthesis and Model for Implementation. *JMIR mental health*, 7(1), e14996. https://doi.org/10.2196/14996
- Mukadam, N., Cooper, C., & Livingston, G. (2011). A systematic review of ethnicity and pathways to care in dementia. *International journal of geriatric psychiatry*, 26(1), 12–20. https://doi.org/10.1002/gps.2484
- Osman, S., & Carare, R. O. (2015). Barriers faced by the people with dementia in the Black and minority ethnic groups in accessing health care and social services. *Journal of Gerontology & Geriatric Research*, 4(1), 1-4. https://doi.org/10.4172/2167-7182.1000198
- Parveen, S., Morrison, V., & Robinson, C. A. (2013). Ethnicity, familism and willingness to care: important influences on caregiver mood?. *Aging & mental health*, *17*(1), 115–124. https://doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2012.717251
- Parveen, S., Peltier, C., & Oyebode, J. R. (2017). Perceptions of dementia and use of services in minority ethnic communities: a scoping exercise. *Health & social care in the community*, 25(2), 734–742. https://doi.org/10.1111/hsc.12363
- Pearlin, L. I., Mullan, J. T., Semple, S. J., & Skaff, M. M. (1990). Caregiving and the stress process: an overview of concepts and their measures. *The Gerontologist*, 30(5), 583–594. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/30.5.583
- Ramaga, P. V. (1992). Relativity of the minority concept. Human Rights Quarterly., 14, 104.
- Raskin, J. D. (2008). The evolution of constructivism. *Journal of constructivist psychology*, 21(1), 1-24.

- Sagbakken, M., Spilker, R. S., & Ingebretsen, R. (2018). Dementia and Migration: Family Care Patterns Merging With Public Care Services. *Qualitative health research*, 28(1), 16–29. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732317730818
- Smith, J. A., & Osborn, M. (2015). Interpretative phenomenological analysis as a useful methodology for research on the lived experience of pain. *British journal of pain*, 9(1), 41–42. https://doi.org/10.1177/2049463714541642
- Smythe, W. E., & Murray, M. J. (2000). Owning the story: Ethical considerations in narrative research. *Ethics & Behavior*, 10(4), 311-336.
- Stebbins, P. & Pakenham, K.I. (2001). Irrational Schematic Beliefs and Psychological Distress in Caregivers of People With Traumatic Brain Injury. *Rehabilitation Psychology*, 46, 178-94. https://doi.org/10.1037/0090-5550.46.2.178
- van Wezel, N., Francke, A. L., Kayan-Acun, E., Ljm Devillé, W., van Grondelle, N. J., & Blom, M. M. (2016). Family care for immigrants with dementia: The perspectives of female family carers living in The Netherlands. *Dementia (London, England)*, *15*(1), 69–84. https://doi.org/10.1177/1471301213517703
- Wittenberg, R., Hu, B., & Hancock, R. (2018). *Projections of demand and expenditure on adult social* care 2015 to 2040. London: Personal Social Services Research Unit.
- Wohland, P., Rees, P., Norman, P., Boden, P. and Jasinska, M. 2011. Ethnic population projections for the UK and local areas, 2001-205, Leeds: University of Leeds.
- Yuill, N., & Hollis, V. (2011). A systematic review of cognitive stimulation therapy for older adults with mild to moderate dementia: an occupational therapy perspective. *Occupational therapy international*, 18(4), 163–186. https://doi.org/10.1002/oti.315

Appendix A – Interview Schedule

Demographic questions

- 1. What is your age?
- 2. What is your ethnicity?
- 3. Where do you live?
- 4. Who are your caring for?
 - Parent
 - Grandparent
 - Sibling
 - Aunt or uncle
 - Mother or father-in-law
 - Grandparent-in-law
 - Cousin
 - Daughter or son
- 5. How long have you been caregiving for?
 - 6-12 months
 - 1-2 years
 - 2-4 years
 - 4-6 years
 - 6 + years
- 6. What type of dementia does the person you care for have?
 - Alzheimer's diseases
 - Vascular dementia
 - Dementia with Lewy bodies (DLB)
 - Mixed Type Dementia
 - Frontotemporal dementia (FTD)
 - Posterior cortical atrophy
 - Other. Please specify.
- 7. When were they diagnosed with dementia?
 - 6-12 months ago
 - 1-2 years ago
 - 2-4 years ago
 - 4-6 years ago
 - 6 + years ago

Main questions

- Can you tell me about your experience of caring for your family member?
 Prompt: for example, how do you feel about it? Or some of the challenges and rewards etc.
- 2. Can you tell me if and how caregiving has impacted you? Prompt: If participants respond with "I don't know what you mean" or similar statements. The following prompt will be used: "Some recent research suggests that caregiving can change things physically, socially (e.g. spending less time with friends), emotionally, and financially for caregivers. This might or might not be true for you, caregiving feels different
- 3. You have told me about the impact caregiving has had on you. Can you tell me what might have contributed to this?

Prompt: Past research has suggested that there are a number of things that can increase, decrease or change the impact of caregiving on caregivers. Some people have said the following things. Before I list these, it's important to say that caregiving feels different for different people, so this might not be relevant to your experiences.

- Limited support from service
- Limited help from family/friends
- Other caring responsibilities
- Expectations to care from other people e.g. family, community, religion, culture
- Types of dementia and symptoms
- Other life stressors

for different people."

- Quality of relationship with person with dementia.
- 4. Does your ethnic background influence the way you approach and cope with caring for a family member with dementia?

Prompt: If so, how? Can you give some examples?

Prompt: Are there specific challenges related to your ethnic background that may have contributed to the impact caregiving has had on you?

- 5. What support systems (e.g. either within your cultural community or beyond) have you found helpful in addressing the impact of dementia caregiving on you?
- 6. In what ways do you feel the broader healthcare system could better support minority ethnic family caregivers of dementia?

Additional enquiry questions

- 1. Do you have any support with caregiving?
- 2. Is the support helpful/unhelpful?

Appendix B - Participant Information Sheet

Title of Project: Caregiving Burden in Minority Ethnic Family Caregivers of Dementia.

Researchers' names:

- Aleena Yasin, Trainee Clinical Psychologist, University of Exeter.
- Dr Katrina Chesterman, Clinical Psychologist, University of Exeter.
- Dr Taline Artinian, Lecturer and Research Tutor, University of Exeter.

Summary of the study:

You are being invited to take part in a research study. This study is being completed as part of the doctorate in clinical psychology programme at the University of Exeter.

In this research study we will use information from you. We will only use information that we need for the research study. Only the people involved in the research will know your name or contact details, and only if they really need it for this study.

Everyone involved in this study will keep your data safe and secure. We will also follow all privacy rules. At the end of the study, we will save some of the data in case we need to check it. We will make sure no-one can work out who you are from the reports we write. The information pack tells you more about this.

<u>Purpose of the research:</u>

We would like to know about your experiences caring for a family member with dementia. The aim of this research is to understand factors associated with burden in minority ethnic caregivers of dementia.

Why have I been approached?

We are currently hoping to recruit 10 participants who meet the criteria listed below:

- Identify as a person from a minority ethnic background. Here, ethnic minority refers to people from non-white origins living in the UK.
- Caring for a family member with a formal diagnosis of dementia.
- Caring for a family member with dementia for at least six months.
- Previously cared for a family member with a dementia, not longer than two years ago.
- 18+ years old.
- Speak and understand English.
- Live in the UK.

What would taking part involve?

- If you agreed to take part, you will be asked to attend an online interview on the videoconferencing platform, Microsoft Teams. Interviews will last approximately 60 minutes. You do not need Microsoft Teams to take part, you just need to have access to the internet.
- You will be asked questions relating to your experiences of providing care for a family member with dementia. The interview will be conducted by the primary researcher.
- Once you have completed the interview, you will be given the opportunity to discuss and reflect on your interview experience with the primary researcher.
- The interview will be audio recorded, following this it will be transcribed and analysed. You will not be identifiable; all data will be anonymised, and you will be given a pseudonym.
- Your audio recording will be permanently deleted 12 months after the interview has taken place. This timeframe reflects how long it will take to transcribe and analyse the data.
- A transcription service may be used to transcribe your interview recording. A confidentiality agreement will be in place to protect your identity and personal information.

• Your anonymised transcripts may be analysed by the 'Doctorate in Clinical Psychology and Post Graduate Research Lived Experience Group.' This group comprises people who have previously or currently access mental health services.

What are the possible benefits and disadvantages of taking part?

You will be given a £15 Amazon voucher to thank you for taking part in the study. There are not any guaranteed benefits from participating in the study. However, the study may provide you with an opportunity to reflect on an important aspect of life caring for a family member with dementia.

There are not any expected risks in participating in the study. However, the topic being discussed might be upsetting or potentially sensitive. If you find the interview upsetting or distressing, you can pause or stop the interview at any time.

How will we use information about you?

We will need to use information from you for this research project. This information will include your:

- Full name
- Email address
- Age
- Gender
- Ethnicity
- Town/City you live in
- Who you are caring for (e.g. parent, grandparent, sibling), the type of dementia they have and when they were diagnosed
- How long you have been caregiving for

People will use this information to do the research or to check your records to make sure that the research is being done properly. People who do not need to know who you are will not be able to see your name or contact details. Your data will have a code number instead.

We will keep all information about you safe and secure. Only the research team will see this. We will also follow all privacy rules.

We will write our reports in a way that no-one can work out that you took part in the study. The results of this study will be reported in the doctoral thesis of the main researcher. It might also be published in a journal and presented at conferences. Anonymised quotes may be used in these publications; however, your personal details will not be included in this.

Information may need to be shared by the researcher to social services or emergencies services, if the safety of you or any other person is at risk. This information would be first, shared with within the research team and then reported to social services if necessary. Any imminent risks will be addressed by contacting emergency services.

What are your choices about how your information is used?

You can stop being part of the study at any time, without giving a reason, but we will keep information about you that we already have. We need to manage your records in specific ways for the research to be reliable. This means that we won't be able to let you see or change the data we hold about you. You can do this by contacting the main researcher (Aleena Yasin, ay335@exeter.ac.uk).

If you would like to receive a summary of the results of the study, then we will retain your contact details until the summary is sent to you. We anticipate this being approximately 12 months following the completion of the study.

Where can you find out more about how your information is used?

You can find out more about how we use your information:

- At www.hra.nhs.uk/information-about-patients/
- Our leaflet available from: www.hra.nhs.uk/patientdataandresearch
- By asking one of the research team (Aleena Yasin, Dr Katrina Chesterman, Dr Taline Artinian)
- By sending an email to <u>ay335@exeter.ac.uk</u>, or
- By sending an email to Brenda Waterman, Data Protection Officer, informationgovernance@exeter.ac.uk

Who is organising and funding this study?

The Clinical Psychology Doctorate Programme at the University of Exeter are funding this research study. The project is being conducted by a Trainee Clinical Psychologist at the University of Exeter, under the supervision of Dr Katrina Chesterman, Clinical Psychologist, University of Exeter and Taline Artinian, Lecturer and Research Tutor, University of Exeter.

Who has reviewed this study?

All research in the NHS is looked at by an independent group of people, called a Research Ethics Committee, to protect participants' interests. This study has been reviewed and given a favourable opinion by the Research Ethics Committee (Ref.24/SC/0243).

How can I take part?

You can contact the research team for further information about the study or to confirm that you would like to take part. The main researcher is Aleena Yasin, Trainee Clinical Psychologist (ay335@exeter.ac.uk).

Who can I contact if I have a complaint?

If you are want to complain about any aspect of the research project please contact Dr Katrina Chesterman (<u>k.a.chesterman@exeter.ac.uk</u>) or Dr Taline Artinian (<u>t.artinian2@exeter.ac.uk</u>). If you are not happy after that, you can contact the study Sponsor: Suzy Wignall, University of Exeter, Corporate Services, Research Ethics, Governance and Compliance, G14, Lafrowda House, St Germans Road, Exeter, EX4 6TL. E: res-sponsor@exeter.ac.uk T: 01392 726621

Appendix C – Consent Form

IRAS ID: 335501
Participant Number:

CONSENT FORM

Title of Project: Caregiving Burden in Minority Ethnic Family Caregivers of Dementia. **Name of Researchers:** Aleena Yasin, Trainee Clinical Psychologist, University of Exeter. Dr Katrina Chesterman, Clinical Psychologist, University of Exeter.

Dr Taline Artinian, Lecturer and Research Tutor, University of Exeter.

Please initial box

1.	I confirm that I have read the participant information sheet (version 1.1) dated 14.07.24 for the above project. I have had the opportunity to consider the information, ask questions and have had these answered satisfactorily.	
2.	I understand that my participation is voluntary and that I am free to stop being part of the study at any time, without giving a reason and without my legal rights being affected. I understand that the researcher will keep information about me that they already have.	
3.	I understand that taking part involves an audio recorded interview which may be stored for up to 12 months following the completion of the interview.	
4.	I understand that third party services, such as transcription services, may be used to process interview recordings. I understand that confidentiality agreements will be in place to protect my identity and personal information.	
5.	I agree to the use of anonymised quotes in an academic publication and reports for this study. I understand that my personal details will not be included in this.	
6.	I understand that any information I share will be held securely by the primary researcher and that my personal information is protected under the GDPR and the Data Protection Act (2018). It will not be held for any longer than necessary.	
7.	I understand that information may need to be shared without my permission if the safety of me or any other person is at risk.	

8.	. I agree to take part in the above project. OPTIONAL. I would like to know the results of the study. I agree that my contact details can be kept securely and used by researchers from the research team to contact me about the outcome of the study.				
9.					
Na	me of Participant	Date	Signature		
	me of researcher ing consent	Date	Signature		
	•	to receive a summary of the	he results of the study, please supply a contact		

When completed: 1 copy for participant; 1 copy for researcher/project file.

Appendix D - Debrief Form

The aim of this research is to understand factors associated with burden in minority ethnic (ME) caregivers of dementia. There is considerable research suggesting that ME family caregivers are more likely to experience higher levels of caregiver burden compared to White British caregivers (Carers UK, 2011; Wittenberg et al, 2018), however, there is limited research considering the specific factors associated with this burden. This proposed study seeks to add to the current literature by exploring factors associated with caregiver burden in ME family caregivers of dementia.

It is hoped that research findings will help policy makers and commissioners deliver services that are inclusive, non-discriminatory, and sensitive to the diverse needs of ME communities. It is hoped that this will encourage ME caregivers to access services to reduce their burden, improve their wellbeing and those that they provide care for. This is particularly important given the number of national policies outlining the importance of reducing health inequalities experienced by people with dementia and their families from ME communities.

Your interview will be recorded and transcribed for analysis purposes. All information will be kept in accordance with GDPR and the Data Protection Act (2018) on a password protected device. Your information will remain confidential, and your details will be kept anonymous. Only members of the research team will have access to the data. You have the right to withdraw your data up to 30 days after the completion of the interview by contacting Aleena Yasin, Trainee Clinical Psychologist.

If you would like more information regarding sources of support, please see the following contact details:

Alzheimer's society

Website: https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/get-support/dementia-support-line

Tel: <u>0333 150 3456</u>

Carer's First

Website: https://www.carersfirst.org.uk/

Age UK

Website: https://www.ageuk.org.uk/

Tel: 0800 678 1602

Samaritans Tel: 116 123

If you have any questions about this research, please contact Aleena Yasin, Trainee Clinical Psychologist (ay335@exeter.ac.uk) or the research supervisors Dr Katrina Chesterman (k.a.chesterman@exeter.ac.uk) and Dr Taline Artinian (t.artinian2@exeter.ac.uk) or the Chair of Psychology Ethics at the University of Exeter, Professor Ian McLaren, (i.p.l.mclaren@ex.ac.uk), Chair of Psychology Ethics, University of Exeter.